2001

# Wells Fargo Bank v. Midwest Realty and Finance Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

Plaintiff brought this action seeking payment from the Defendant on a Promissory Note and an accounts receivable extension of credit. Plaintiff asserts liability on the part of the Defendant by reason of certain guarantys. (Exhibit P-3 and P-11.) Plaintiff alleges that there are separate continuing guarantys from Defendant to Plaintiff covering the Promissory Note and accounts receivable due Plaintiff from Lee Chair Corporation. Plaintiff alleged that Defendant failed to pay the amount due on Plaintiff's demand after Lee Chair defaulted on its debts. Defendant asserts that there was only one continuing guaranty and that pursuant to the terms thereof, it was revoked by a letter from Defendant to Plaintiff dated

July 6, 1971, and that Defendant was not liable to Plaintiff for the debts incurred after that date. (Exhibit P-6.)

#### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The District Court of Salt Lake County, Judge J. E. Banks, presiding without jury, ruled in favor of the Plaintiff, requiring Defendant to pay to Plaintiff \$59,000.00 principal on the Promissory Note dated February 4, 1972; \$8,874.26 principal on the accounts receivable credit line; \$5,000.00 attorney's fees; \$236.48 costs of court; interest on the Promissory Note of February 4, 1972, in the sum of \$17,116.02; and interest on the accounts receivable credit line in the sum of \$5,932.06, for a total sum of \$96,158.82, plus 8% interest per annum from January 22, 1975, until paid.

#### NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks reversal of the judgment and dismissal of the action in its entirety or in the alternative, for reversal of the judgment with regard to all damages in excess of the \$59,000.00 principal on the promissory note dated February 4, 1972.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 4, 1970, Midwest Realty and Finance, Inc. (hereafter "Defendant") executed and delivered to Wells Fargo Bank (hereafter "Plaintiff" or "Bank") a Continuing Guaranty prepared by Plaintiff to pay Plaintiff upon demand all indebtedness of Lees Chair Corporation (hereafter "Lee") and Richard Maggs, its President, up to \$60,000.00. (Exhibit P-3.) This

guaranty authorized the bank to "renew, extend or accelerate the terms of the indebtedness. . .without notice or demand. . ." to the guarantor and allowed the Bank to "permit the indebtedness to exceed guarantor's liability." The guaranty also specifically provided that:

"This guaranty shall not apply to any indebtedness created after actual receipt by Bank of written notice of its revocation as to future transactions."

On November 5, 1970, Plaintiff advanced to Lee the sum of \$60,000.00. In December, 1970, it became evident that Lee needed more than \$60,000.00 in credit. On December 17, 1970, Defendant executed and delivered to Plaintiff a continuing guaranty form prepared by Plaintiff in the amount of \$130,000.00. (Exhibit P-11.) Plaintiff thereafter made additional advances of funds to Lee. The terms of this guaranty were identical to the form executed and delivered on November 4, 1970.

The \$60,000.00 debt was renewed on February 11, 1971.

On July 6, 1971, a letter was mailed by Defendant to Plaintiff which stated in pertinent part that:

"During the recent meeting of the Board of Directors of Midwest Realty and Finance, we reviewed our financial commitments. It was the decision of the Board that we will withdraw the "Continuing Guaranty" of Midwest Realty & Finance, Inc. for and in behalf of L.E.E. Chair Corporation. This guaranty is dated December 17, 1970, and is in the amount of \$130,000.00."

"It is our desire that the guaranty be immediately reduced to the amount of the outstanding obligations covered by the L.E.E. Chair note. We believe this to be about \$85,000.00."

"We would appreciate your earliest reply, indicating any further requirements for finalizing this cancellation." (Exhibit P-6.)



Thereafter Wells Fargo Bank again renewed the \$60,000.00 debt on August 4, 1971, and September 22, 1971. (T.R. 34) On February 4, 1972, a new Promissory Note in the amount of \$59,000.00 was executed by the president of Lee Chair, Richard Maggs, in favor of Plaintiff, evidenced by a Promissory Note bearing that date (Exhibit P-2).

Contemporaneous with the Defendant's execution of the December 17, 1970 Guaranty, Lee executed a Continuing Security Agreement with the Plaintiff (Exhibit P-9). It provided, inter alia, that:

"Said security interest secures payment and performance of: all present and future indebtedness of Debtor to Bank; all obligations of Debtor and rights of Bank under this agreement; and all present and future obligations of Debtor to Bank of other kinds." (Paragraph 2.)

\* \* \* \* \*

"In accordance with customary accounting practice, Bank shall credit to such Promissory Notes or enter in Debtor's Loan Account all payments made by the Debtor on account of indebtedness evidenced by such Promissory Notes on Loan Account, all proceeds of collateral which are finally paid to Bank at its own office in cash or solvent credits, and other appropriate debts and credits." (Paragraph 4.)

\* \* \* \* \*

"While Debtor is not in default, Bank will, except to the amount of contingent liabilities secured hereby, either release or apply to a debt secured hereby, at Bank's option, all security in the form of cash or irrevocable bank credit. Any sums withheld to secure contingent liabilities may be deposited at Bank's option in a non-interest bearing account over which Debtor will have no control." (Paragraph 5.)

On July 6, 1971, the total credit extended from Plaintiff to Lee amounted to \$91,672.97, plus interest. Plaintiff continued after July 6, 1971, to rewrite and extend credit to Lee in the amount of \$280,931.90, while receiving monies in payment from Lee of approximately \$272,057.64, leaving a balance owing on August 16, 1973, of \$8,874.26. (Exhibit P-10.)

Plaintiff, through Walt Winrow, responded to Defendant's letter of July 6, 1971, by contacting John Wells, a director of Defendant, by telephone. (T.R. 13) Wells was not an officer of the Defendant. (T.R. 7) Winrow and Wells discussed the outstanding credit situations with regard to Midwest, Lee and Wells Fargo. From July 7, 1971 to September 21, 1972, no further action was taken with regard to the Continuing Guaranty. On September 21, 1972, Plaintiff wrote an information letter to Defendant, stating that Plaintiff had continued to extend credit and advances to Lee. Plaintiff stated in the letter that it considered the guaranty to still be in force with regard to a \$59,000.00 Promissory Note and the amounts outstanding on accounts receivable. Plaintiff made demand on Defendant to pay some \$91,500.00 on February 8, 1973,, (Exhibit P-14), and Plaintiff's attorney reiterated said demand on July 18, 1973, to which demands Defendant did not respond.

Plaintiff then commenced this action on August 13, 1973.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THIS CASE IS ONE IN EQUITY AND THIS COURT MAY REVIEW BOTH ISSUES OF LAW AND FACT.

The Plaintiff in this action seeks payment from the Defendant based upon certain "Continuing Guarantys" of a debt incurred by Lee Chair. At issue is whether the first Continuing Guaranty was superseded by the second one. This issue is primarily concerned with the terms of the agreements and the conduct of the parties in relation thereto. The Defendant asserts that the two are at odds with one another.

Secondly, at issue is whether the Defendant cancelled the Continuing Guaranty. The Plaintiff maintains that it did not. The Defendant contends that it did.

Closely related to this is the issue of the Plaintiff's handling and allocation of funds on the Lee account after notice of cancellation. The Defendant maintains that the Plaintiff failed to act in good faith pursuant to the agreements of the parties and Lee.

As such, this case deals in equity. This Court may therefore review both issues of law and fact.

As set forth in McCullough v. Wasserback, 30 Utah 2d 398, 518 P. 2d 691 (1974), this Court has consistently held that:

In considering whether that standard of proof has been met we keep in mind that this is a case in equity in which this court may review the facts, yet do not lose sight of the prerogatives indulged the trial court; that even in equity cases his findings and judgment will not be disturbed unless the evidence clearly preponderates against them and a manifest injustice or inequity is wrought. But if these are seen to exist, this court may make its own findings and judgment to supersede those of the trial court.

It is the Court's prerogative and duty under the Constitution to review the evidence in equity cases and to modify or make new findings if the record compels it. First Security Bank of Utah v. Demiris, 10 Utah 2d 405, 354 P. 2d 97 (1960).

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT II

THE CONTINUING GUARANTY OF DECEMBER 17, 1970, SUPERSEDED THE CONTINUING GUARANTY OF NOVEMBER 4, 1970.

The Defendant executed separate, identical forms prepared by Plaintiff and bearing the heading "Continuing Guaranty," to secure the indebtedness of Lee Chair Corporation. The first was executed November 4, 1970, (Exhibit P-3), and the second was executed December 17, 1970 (Exhibit P-11). The first document was to guaranty indebtedness up to \$60,000.00, which sums Plaintiff subsequently advanced to Lee. It later became evident that Lee required additional credit in excess of \$60,000.00. The second Guaranty form (Exhibit P-11) was executed by the Defendant to secure liabilities up to \$130,000.00. Contemporaneously, Lee executed the Continuing Security Agreement (Exhibit P-9). Plaintiff's total advancements to Lee never exceeded \$95,000.00.

The Continuing Guaranty Agreements state, inter alia, that:

"(1) For valuable consideration, the undersigned (hereinafter called Guarantors) jointly and severally unconditionally guarantee and promise to pay to WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A., a California Corporation (hereinafter called Bank), or order, on demand in lawful money of the United States, any and all indebtedness of Lee Chair Corporation and Richard Maggs (hereinafter called Borrowers) to Bank."

The document dated November 4, 1970, states:

"(2) The liability of Guarantors shall not exceed at any one time the sum of Sixty Thousand Dollars for principal, together with all interest on such part of the indebtedness as does not exceed aforesaid principal."

The document dated December 17, 1970, states as above except the principal sum is "One Hundred Thirty Thousand Dollars".

(2) goes on to state:

". . . .Notwithstanding the foregoing, Bank may permit the indebtedness of Borrowers to exceed Guarantors' liability. This is a continuing guaranty relating to any indebtedness, including that arising under successive transactions which shall either continue the indebtedness or from time to time renew it after it has been satisfied. This Guaranty shall not apply to any indebtedness created after actual receipt by Bank of written notice of its revocation as to future transactions. Any payment by Guarantors shall not reduce their maximum obligation hereunder, unless written notice to that effect be actually received by Bank at or prior to the time of such payment. The obligations of Guarantors hereunder shall be in addition to any obligations of Guarantors, or either of them, under any other guarantys of the indebtedness of Borrowers or any other persons heretofore given or hereafter to be given to Bank unless said other guarantys are expressly modified or revoked in writing; and this Guaranty shall not, unless expressly herein provided, affect or invalidate any such other guarantys. The liability of any Guarantor to Bank shall at all times be deemed to be the aggregate liability of said Guarantor under the terms of this Guaranty, and of any other guarantys heretofore or hereafter given by said Guarantor to Bank and not expressly revoked, modified or invalidated." (emphasis added)

\* \* \* \* \*

"(4) Guarantors authorize Bank, without notice or demand and without affecting their liability hereunder, from time to time to (a) renew,

extend, accelerate or otherwise change the time for payment of, or otherwise change the terms of the indebtedness or any part thereof, including increase or decrease of the rate of interest thereon; (b) take and hold security for the payment of this Guaranty or the indebtedness guaranteed, and exchange, enforce, waive and release any such security; (c) apply such security and direct the order or manner of sale thereof as Bank in its discretion may determine; and (d) release or substitute any one or more of the endorsers or guarantors. Bank may without notice assign this Guaranty in whole or in part. (emphasis added)

"(5) Guarantors waive any right to require Bank to (a) proceed against Borrowers; (b) proceed against or exhaust any security held from borrowers; or (c) pursue any other remedy in Bank's power whatsoever. Guarantors waive any defense arising by reason of any disability or other defense of Borrowers or by reason of the cessation from any cause whatsoever of the liability of Borrowers. Until all indebtedness of Borrowers to Bank shall have been paid in full, even though such indebtedness is in excess of Guarantors' liability hereunder, Guarantors shall have no right of subrogation, and waive any right to enforce any remedy which Bank now has or may hereafter have against Borrowers, and waive any benefit of, and any right to participate in any security now or hereafter held by Bank. Guarantors waive all presentments, demands for performance, notice of non-performance, protests, notices of protest, notices of dishonor, and notices of acceptance of this Guaranty and of the existence, creation, or incurring of new or additional indebtedness."

Certain provisions of the agreements as quoted above, when considered in context of the course of conduct of the parties, clearly indicate that they intended the second Guaranty to supersede the first.

Paragraph (2) of the Continuing Guaranty form states:

"The obligations of Guarantors hereunder shall be in addition to any obligations of Guarantors, or either of them, under any other guaranties of the indebtedness of Borrowers or any other persons

heretofore given or hereafter to be given to Bank unless said other guaranties are expressly modified or revoked in writing; and this Guaranty shall not, unless expressly herein provided, affect or invalidate any such other guaranties;. . ."

However, the law is clear that the course of conduct of the parties to a written agreement can modify an express term of that agreement. In the case of Tucker Sales Corporation v. Potter, 104 Utah 1, 137 P.2d 270, 1943, the Court stated as follows with regard to the construction of a contract:

"On the other hand, the court's construction is that given the contract by the parties themselves. From October 1, 1938, when the contract was entered into, until August 1941, almost three years, the partnership furnished plaintiff with duplicate slips and paid without question plaintiff's commission on all coal sold. Appellants first raised this question on October 6, 1941. Nothing could show the intention of the parties more clearly than the interpretation they themselves place upon a contract. It is well settled in this state that where the parties to a contract, with full knowledge of the terms thereof, by their actions before any controversy has arisen, place upon it a construction which is not contrary to the usual meaning of the language used the courts will follow that construction.

(See also Fowers v. Lawson, 56 Utah 420, 191 P. 227; Roberts v. Tuttle, 36 Utah 614, 105 P. 916; Titton v. Sterling Coal & Coke Co., 28 Utah 173, 77P. 758, 107 Am. St. Rep. 689; Snyder v. Fidelity Savings Association, 23 Utah 291, 64 P. 870; Woodward v. Edmonds, 20 Utah 118, 57 P. 848; Peay v. Salt Lake City, 11 Utah 331, 40 P. 206.)

In the case of Hodges Insurance Co., v. Swan Creek Canal Co., 111 Utah 405, 181 P.2d 217, 1947, the court stated:



"A practical construction of the terms of a contract by the parties thereto implies a mutual and identical interpretation."

The Court goes on to quote 17 C.J.S., "Contracts,"

Section 325, Subdivision 5, Page 765, as follows:

"To warrant the court in according great weight, or adopting, a practical construction by the parties, it is necessary and sufficient that each party shall have placed the same construction on the contract. While the construction placed by one party on his own language in a contract is the highest evidence of his own intention, the meaning of the contract cannot be established by the construction placed on it by one of the parties, unless such interpretation has been made to and relied on by the other party, or has been known to and acquiesced in by the other party, . . . ."

In this case, both the parties put the same construction on the terms of the guaranty dated December 17, 1970, i.e. that guaranty superseded the guaranty of November 4, 1970.

In the case of Bullough v. Sims, 16 U.2d 304, 400 P.2d 20, 1965, quoting the California Supreme Court, this Court said:

"Appellants correctly claim that this doctrine of practical construction can only be applied when the contract is ambiguous, and cannot be used when the contract is unambiguous. That is undoubtedly a correct general statement of the law. (Citations omitted). But the question involved in such cases is ambiguous to whom? Words frequently mean different things to different people. Here the contracting parties demonstrated by their actions that they knew what the words meant and were intended to mean. Thus, even if it be assumed that the words standing alone might mean one thing to the members of this court, where the parties have demonstrated by their actions and performance that to them the contract meant something quite different, the meaning and intent of the parties should be enforced. In such a situation the parties by their actions have created the "ambiguity" required to bring the rule into operation. If this were not the rule the courts would be enforcing one contract when both parties have demonstrated that they meant and intended the contract to be quite different."



(Subsequently restated in Bullfrog Marina, Inc. v. Lentz, 28 U.2d 261, 501 P.2d 266, 1972.)

In the present action, there are ambiguities in the Guaranty Agreement when considered in light of the subsequent conduct of the parties. The law is that ambiguities be resolved against the maker of the instrument, or in cases in which the parties have put an interpretation on the ambiguity the court should apply the construction applied by the parties themselves. The parties both treated the debt and guaranty as if there was only one guaranty. Only upon commencement of this action has Plaintiff begun to refer to two guaranties.

At the trial, G. R. Harmon, President of Defendant, testified that the guaranty of December 17, 1970, was intended to replace or supersede the first guaranty, and that Defendant never intended to be obligated for debts of Lee in excess of \$130,000.00 (T.R. 64). The Security Agreement executed by Plaintiff and Lee (Exhibit P-9) and all of the letters between the parties, which are Exhibits P-6, P-8, P-13, and P-14, and the minutes of Defendant, (Exhibit P-1), all show that both parties refer only to one continuing guaranty and rely only on one continuing guaranty between them.

The continuing Security Agreement, executed between Plaintiff and Lee contemporaneous with the December 17, 1970, guaranty, on December 18, 1970, secures (Paragraph 2) "All present and future indebtedness of Debtor (Lee) to Bank; all obligations of Debtor and rights of bank of other kinds." The

Security Agreement terminates (Paragraph 3) only "upon payment of all indebtedness and performance of all obligations existing when Bank receives written notice of withdrawal of this Agreement by Debtor." The Security Agreement treats all obligations of Lee (guaranteed by Defendant) as one liability, including the \$60,000.00 originally advanced and later advancements.

Defendant's letter of July 6, 1971, to Plaintiff states:

"During the recent meeting of the Board of Directors of Midwest Realty and Finance, we reviewed our financial commitments. It was the decision of the Board that we will withdraw the "Continuing Guaranty" of Midwest Realty and Finance, Inc. for an in behalf of L.E.E. Chair Corporation. This guaranty is dated December 17, 1970, and is in the amount of \$130,000.00.

"It is our desire that the guaranty be immediately reduced to the amount of the outstanding obligations covered by the L.E.E. Chair Note. We believe this to be about \$85,000.00.

"We would appreciate your earliest reply, indicating any further requirements for finalizing this cancellation."

This letter states unequivocally that the company will withdraw the continuing guaranty of Defendant for Lee, and then refers to that guaranty as dated December 17, 1970, and as being in the amount of \$130,000.00. The letter refers to the guaranty in the singular and speaks of a single sum liability of \$85,000.00. It is obvious that Defendant was referring to one guaranty as inclusive of the total debt. Indeed, this is the only reasonable interpretation that can be placed upon this language when one considers the knowledge of the Plaintiff as to the total indebtedness outstanding at the time.

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