2001

# Wells Fargo Bank v. Midwest Realty and Finance Inc. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT  
POINT I.

THE LETTER OF JULY 6, 1971 DID NOT CANCEL OR  
REVOKE THE GUARANTEE OF MIDWEST

The sole issue before the trial court was the intent behind the execution and delivery of the letter of July 6,

1971. Counsel for Midwest admitted during the course of the trial that the only disputed issue was the meaning of the July 6, 1971 letter (Tr. 16), quoted on pp. 20-21, infra). All other issues are dependent on the disposition of this primary issue. In fact, all issues raised by Midwest in its Brief are rendered moot by a determination that the letter did not constitute a cancellation or revocation of the guarantees.

The trial court, after a consideration of all of the facts presented at trial, determined:

"The intent of Midwest as expressed in the letter of July 6, 1971, was to reduce the upper limit set forth in the continuing guarantee of December 17, 1970 (Exhibit 11) and establish a new upper limit of said guarantee in an amount equal to the outstanding indebtedness of Lee Chair Corporation to Wells Fargo Bank as of July 8, 1971. It was not the intent of the letter to revoke the guarantee of December 17, 1970, or to cancel said guarantee but only to establish a new upper limit to the guarantee. Aside from lowering the upper limit of the guarantee, Midwest did not intend to have any other effect or modification of the guarantee of December 17, 1970." (R.110).

The objective of the Brief filed by Midwest is to argue the facts of the case in an attempt to have a re-trial of the case in this Court. Midwest asks this Court to review the facts, resolve disputed facts, and draw inferences from the facts different than those drawn by the trial court. Midwest's argument completely ignores the established law announced many times by this Court that decisions by the

trier of fact will not be disturbed on appeal if there is any evidence to support them. This Court has held that it will not overrule the trier of fact "unless the evidence so unerringly pointed to a contrary conclusion that there existed no reasonable basis for the finding." Cottrell v. Grand Union Tea Company, 5 Utah 2d 187, 299 P.2d 622 (1956). Accord, Aagard v. Dayton and Miller Red-E Mix Concrete Company, 12 Utah 2d 34, 361 P.2d 522 (1961). The findings of a trial court will be reversed only if the finding "did such violence to common sense as to convince the Court that no fact trier, acting fairly and reasonably, would refuse to make such a finding. . . ." Ray v. Consolidated Freight Ways, 4 Utah 2d 137, 289 P.2d 196, 201 (1955). Accord, Wood v. Taylor, 8 Utah 2d 210, 332 P.2d 215 (1958). So long as there is evidence to support a factual determination, this Court will not reverse such determination even though this Court may disagree as to the factual decision. Brigham v. Moon Lake Electric Association, 24 Utah 2d 292, 470 P.2d 393 (1970). The policy of upholding all reasonable factual findings of the trial court is based in part upon its advantaged position in factual matters, Peterson v. Holloway, 8 Utah 2d 328, 334 P.2d 559 (1959); Child v. Child, 8 Utah 2d 261, 332 P.2d 981 (1958).

With respect to the issues involved in the instant

case, this Court has held that where the parties to a transaction dispute the intent surrounding some act involved in the transaction, the question of the intent is a factual issue and the determination of that factual issue will not be disturbed on appeal if there is any evidence to support it. Taylor v. Turner, 27 Utah 2d 39, 492 P.2d 1343 (1972); Garrett Freight Lines v. Cornwall, 120 Utah 175, 232 P.2d 786 (1951); Youngren v. John W. Lloyd Construction Company, 22 Utah 2d 207, 450 P.2d 985 (1969).

Midwest fails to understand that the question presented is not what the trial court could have reasonably found from the evidence. The question is, "are the findings that were actually made by the trial court supported by any evidence?" General Insurance Company v. Lewis, 121 Utah 440, 243 P.2d 433 (1952).

The apparent justification for arguing the facts of the case in the Appellate Court is the claim, unsupported by the citation of any case or authority, that this is an equity case and that the Appellate Court may therefore independently determine the disputed factual issues. Although Midwest cites several cases noting the standard to be applied in equity cases, there is not a single authority supporting the notion that this is an equity case.

This is not an equity case, there are no grounds for

equitable relief. This Court has held:

"If there is a legal remedy available to which resort may be had without any substantial or irreparable damage, one may not seek equity. Erisman v. Overman, 11 Utah 2d 258, 358 P.2d 85, 88 (1961)."

The guarantees which are the subject matter of this case are common contracts used extensively in the commercial world. Powerline Company v. Russell's Inc., 103 Utah 441, 135 P.2d 906, 911 (1943). The Complaint in this action alleges a breach of said contract and seeks the legal remedy of money damages. All defenses asserted by Midwest are legal defenses. The equitable defenses of waiver and estoppel were waived by stipulation at the trial, Tr. 16. The remedies and defenses being legal in their nature, and said remedies and defenses being sufficient, there is no basis for the application of equitable principles.

Even if there were an equity case, the evidence, summarized below, justifies the finding that the letter of July 6, 1971 was not a cancellation or revocation of the guarantees. The findings of the trial court would be upheld even under an equitable standard. The principles of equity state that findings of fact "will not be disturbed unless the evidence clearly preponderates against them and a manifest injustice or inequity is wrought." McCullough v. Wasserback, 30 Utah 2d 398, 518 P.2d 691 (1974).



Inasmuch as the Court is concerned only with the question of whether there is evidence upon which the trial court could find that the July letter did not cancel the guarantee, the Bank will confine its argument to noting the evidence in support of the finding. The Bank will not attempt a complete response to Midwest's factual arguments wherein it cites evidence contrary to the Court's finding because consideration of such evidence is irrelevant if the finding is supported by any evidence. See authorities cited above.

The evidence in support of the Court's finding that the July letter did not constitute a cancellation or revocation of the guarantees is overwhelming.

The July letter clearly unequivocally stated:

"It is our desire that the guarantee be immediately reduced to the amount of the outstanding obligations covered by the L.E.E. Chair note. We believe this to be about \$85,000.00."

There is simply no other way to interpret the above language than to conclude that Midwest wished a ceiling on the account so as to limit their exposure under the guarantee.

The most convincing evidence that a cancellation was not intended, is the wording in the letter which refers to revocation or cancellation. Both references clearly established that Midwest contemplated cancellation or revocation in the

future, and did not intend a revocation or cancellation at the present time:

"It was the decision of the Board that we will withdraw the 'continuing guarantee' of Midwest Realty & Finance, Inc., for and on behalf of L.E.E. Chair Corporation. . .

We would appreciate your earliest reply, indicating any further requirements for finalizing this cancellation."

It is apparent from the above quoted language that the letter was not to be understood as an immediate cancellation or revocation. If Midwest intended the letter to constitute a cancellation, it would not have requested "further requirements for finalizing this cancellation."

As noted in the letter, the execution and delivery of the letter was authorized by Midwest's Board of Directors. A member of that Board of Directors, present when the letter communication was decided upon, reaffirmed that the intent of the letter was to "cap" the guarantee rather than to cancel the guarantee:

"Q. . . And I presume that you had some discussion concerning this letter, before it was sent, did you not?

A. The Board of Directors did, yes.

Q. And when you say the Board of Directors did, then that letter accurately sets forth their intent and their discussion with regard to that letter. Is that correct?

A. Certainly.

MR. CONDER: I object, your Honor. The letter speaks for itself.

THE COURT: I don't know without looking at it. I will strike it if it does.

Q. Now, the intent of the Board as expressed in that letter, was it not, was to reduce the upper limit from \$130,000.00 down to \$85,000.00, was it not?

A. That's what it says.

Q. Certainly. And you personally agreed on behalf of Midwest Realty to allow advances to keep Lee Chair Corporation going so long as the upper limit of that guarantee was capped or a ceiling was put on it, did you not?

A. I did not personally agree to it.

Q. Well, that was generally the intent and discussion when the letter was sent, was it not?

A. I can't recall exactly the conversation at the Board meeting, but that was the intent I assume by this letter." (Testimony of John G. Wells, Director of Midwest Realty, Tr. 12-13).

On July 8, 1971, the date that the letter of July 6, 1971 was received by the Bank, Mr. John G. Wells of Midwest had a telephone conversation with a Mr. Walter J. Winrow of the Bank (Tr. 13-14). At this time it was the policy of the Bank to make memoranda of all telephone conversations to avoid problems occasioned by employee turn-over (Tr. 38). In accordance with this policy of record keeping, Mr. Winrow made

notes of the telephone conversation on the original of the July letter (Tr. 38-39). This memorandum of the conversation, by reason of the passage of time, constitutes the most reliable summary of the substance of the conversation. The handwritten memorandum summarizes the conversation as follows:

"Talked to J. Wells on 7-8-71 in detail about my concern if guarantee reduced. I said I would like to keep guarantee at \$130,000.00 and indefinitely 'cap' the amount of receivables financing at current bal of 31,212. He agreed. We also agreed on an approx. 30 day deadline to define the intentions of Midwest and Lee Chair. It's also understood the 'cap' fig. in the receivables line would be reviewed if Lee Chair could convince Midwest and we had new authorization. Magg has been informed and agrees to these conditions WJW." (Exhibit 13)

The resolutions passed by the Board of Directors of Midwest which authorized the execution delivery of both guarantees provided:

"Be it further resolved, that the authority hereby conferred is in addition to the authority conferred by any other resolution heretofore or hereafter delivered to Bank and will continue in full force and effect until Bank shall have received official notice in writing from this corporation of the revocation hereof by a resolution duly adopted by the Board of Directors of this corporation and such revocation shall be effective only as to loans made by Bank subsequent to the receipt by it of such official notice." (Exhibits 12 and 4) (Emphasis added.)

A review of the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors of Midwest reveals that prior to July 6,

1971, it passed no resolution whatsoever which indicated or even suggested that the guarantee should be revoked or cancelled.

A review of the resolutions and minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors of Midwest show that a meeting was held each year. However, the minutes or resolutions for the year 1971 are absent for some unexplained reason. In any event, the resolution and minutes which were produced by Midwest establish that there was no resolution prior to July, 1971, revoking or cancelling the guarantee (Tr. 23-24, Exhibit 1). The only resolution on the subject matter prior to July, 1971, was a resolution authorizing the officers to enter into the guarantee arrangement (Exhibit 1).

After the telephone conversation between Wells and Winrow on July 8, 1971, the Bank sent a letter to Midwest setting forth the substance of that conversation. The letter stated:

"As to your letter of July 6, 1971, we have discussed this with Mr. Winrow and he stated that according to his conversation with Mr. Wells, the intent of the letter was to 'cap' the borrowing which was done." (Exhibit 8)

Upon receipt of the letter by Midwest, there was no response denying that characterization of the conversation, denying the statement as to the intent of the letter, nor was

there any act on the part of Midwest which indicated that the letter was not an accurate statement of the conversation and of the intent of the July, 1971 letter (Tr. 21).

The officers of Midwest were well aware that Lee Chair was in a precarious financial position and needed substantial credit to maintain current operations (Tr. 10-11). It was therefore apparent that a sudden termination of all credit would have the immediate effect of forcing Lee Chair to terminate business and thereby lose any hope that Lee Chair could pay or reduce the debt from its current income. The trier of fact was entitled to infer that Midwest would not act imprudently; that Midwest had nothing to lose by "capping" the account since they were already liable for the indebtedness incurred to date; and, that Midwest had everything to lose by suddenly cutting off all credit and forcing Lee Chair out of business without giving it the opportunity to pay or reduce the debt. A sudden cancellation of the guarantee and the resulting sudden cancellation of credit to Lee Chair would have been an imprudent and unreasonable act and thus the trier of fact was justified in concluding that a cancellation of the guarantee was not intended.

Both the December and November Guarantee provided that they were cumulative with each other rather than superseding

Nevertheless, the July letter mentioned only the December Guarantee. There was no mention of the November Guarantee. This omission reveals the true intent of the letter. The failure to mention the November Guarantee is consistent with an intent to "cap" the indebtedness at its then current level. An intent to cap the guarantee did not require mention of the November Guarantee inasmuch as the indebtedness was already at the upper limit of that guarantee. On the other hand, an intent to cap the accounts, rather than to cancel them, would require only mention of the December Guarantee since the indebtedness under that guarantee had not yet reached the maximum. If the intent had been to cancel or terminate all guarantees, Midwest would surely have mentioned the November Guarantee inasmuch as it involved more indebtedness than did the December Guarantee. The trier of fact was entitled to infer that Midwest would act consistently: that it would not have mentioned the November Guarantee if "capping" the account were intended whereas mention of the November Guarantee was necessary if cancellation of the guarantee was intended.

The above evidence is ample support for the finding of the Court that the intent of the July, 1971 letter was to "cap" the indebtedness guarantee and not to revoke the guarantee. It was the exclusive province of the lower court, as the trier

of fact, to resolve the dispute by finding that there was no cancellation of the guarantee even though there was evidence on the other side of the issue. There is seldom a case where there is not evidence on both sides of the factual disputes. However, once the factual issues are decided, the decision is final if there is evidence to support the finding. The above review of the evidence demonstrates that there is evidence to support the lower court's finding. Midwest's review of contrary evidence is of no relevance to the issues presented by this appeal and could only result in a re-trial of the factual issues at the appellate level.

POINT II.

ALL OF APPELLANT'S ARGUMENTS ARE BASED UPON THE ASSUMPTION  
THAT THE JULY LETTER CONSTITUTES A CANCELLATION OR SAID  
ARGUMENTS ARE BASED UPON FACTUAL DISPUTES

The only real issue involved on this appeal is the determination of the intent surrounding the execution and delivery of the letter of July 6, 1971. Midwest admitted at trial that this was the sole issue before the court and Midwest waived all equitable defenses:

"MR. CONDER: Now, also in the interest of time, your Honor, although the pleadings have raised the question of consideration for the guarantee, we will waive that. We are not going to raise that.

The pleadings raised the question of estoppel.



We are not going to raise that.

We have only got one issue here, and we admit that the guarantees were secured. We admit that the money was advanced by the Bank, but we argue that the guarantee was cancelled and that the Bank made advances after that time and, therefore, that releases the guarantor. It gets down to that simple issue.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. McDONALD: I assume also then, Mr. Conder, you are waiving the defense of waiver as well as estoppel and also the defense of failure of demand?

MR. CONDER: Yes. We have only the one issue." (Tr. 16)

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